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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

SHURE INCORPORATED, )
)

and ) C.A.NO. 19-1343-RGA-CJB
)

SHURE ACQUISITION HOLDINGS, INC., ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

)
Plaintiffs, )
)
V. )
)
CLEARONE, INC., )
)
Defendant. )

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs Shure Incorporated and Shure AcquisitiBloldings, Inc. (collectively,
“Shure”), by counsel and pursuant to Federal RafeSivil Procedure 8(a), 15(a)(2), and 15(d),
hereby allege the following in support of their 8ed Amended Complaint against Defendant
ClearOne, Inc. (“ClearOne”):

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. Healthy competition is a cornerstone of the econorBut that competition must
be fair. When Shure first pioneered the desiga oéiling array microphone, offering powerful
acoustic benefits with flexible mounting optionsdaminimal aesthetic drawbacks in rooms
where it would be implemented, Shure built an entiew product market. Shure’s MXA910
product, part of the Microflex Advance (MXA) famibf products, was and continues to be very
popular with customers because of its many innggafeatures and distinctive design. In
recognition of the MXA910’s inventive features, tHeS. Patent and Trademark Office issued to
Shure U.S. Patent No. 9,565,493 (the “493 PatefiERhibit A). Similarly, in recognition of
Shure’s innovative design, the USPTO issued to &hliS. Patent No. D865723 (the 723
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Patent) (Exhibit G). ClearOne’s reaction to thecass of the MXA910 was not to innovate or
fairly compete, but rather to generate its own ieer®f the same product, the BMA CT, which
infringes the 493 Patent and the '723 Patentarireffort to induce customers to buy ClearOne’s
BMA CT, and to deter purchases of Shure’s MXA910durcts, ClearOne began a campaign of
false and misleading statements to customers. i$hmot fair and honest competition. It is
unlawful and has damaged Shure and its customers.

2. This civil action arises under the patent lawshef tynited States, 35 U.S.C. &tl
seg., Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §5(&Pet seq., the Delaware Deceptive
Trade Practices Act, 6 Del. C. § 2582 seq., and Delaware common law, and relates to
ClearOne’s products, including ClearOne’s BMA Coguct, and its deceptive trade practices.

PARTIES

3. Plaintiff Shure Incorporated is a corporation otigad under the laws of lllinois
with a principal place of business at 5800 W. ToAkgnue, Niles, Illinois 60714.

4. Plaintiff Shure Acquisition Holdings, Inc. is a poration organized under the
laws of lllinois with a principal place of busineas 5800 W. Touhy Avenue, Niles, lllinois
60714. Shure Acquisition Holdings, Inc. is a whiedwned subsidiary of Shure Incorporated.

5. On information and belief, Defendant ClearOne isogporation organized and
existing under the laws of the State of Delawangl, ia headquartered at 5225 Wiley Post Way,
Suite 500, Salt Lake City, Utah.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Clear@eeause, on information and

belief, ClearOne is incorporated in Delaware.
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7. On information and belief, this Court also has pa&d jurisdiction over ClearOne
because ClearOne has established minimum contaittshve forum such that the exercise of
personal jurisdiction over ClearOne would not offetraditional notions of fair play and
substantial justice.

8. On information and belief, ClearOne has regulang purposefully availed itself
of the privilege of conducting business activitishin Delaware and this Judicial District. On
information and belief, ClearOne has purposefullpiled itself of the rights and benefits of
Delaware law and has engaged in systematic andnoonis contacts with Delaware. On
information and belief, ClearOne derives substantizenue from the sale of infringing products
and/or services in Delaware and has availed itdetfie privilege of conducting business within
Delaware.

9. On information and belief, personal jurisdictionpiper because ClearOne has
committed acts of infringement in this Judicial Dit. This Court has personal jurisdiction
over ClearOne becausmter alia, this action arises at least in part from acegtiClearOne
directed towards Delaware.

10. Oninformation and belief, ClearOne has appointegegsstered agent in Delaware
at Capitol Services, Inc., 1675 S. State Street,BBtDover, Delaware 19901.

11. Exercising personal jurisdiction over ClearOne ImstDistrict would not be
unreasonable given ClearOne’s contacts in thisribisthe interest in this District of resolving
disputes related to products and/or services saidii, and the harm that would occur to Shure
in this District.

12.  This Court has subject matter jurisdiction ovestaction pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

88 1331 and 1338(a) as to the claims arising ufetiaral law, and has supplemental jurisdiction
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pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1367 as to the claimsrarignder state law because they form part of
the same case and controversy as the claims atisgy federal law.

13. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. 88 1391(b) and (334 cause the Court has
personal jurisdiction over ClearOne in Delaware @telarOne resides in Delaware. Venue is
proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1400(b) because Clear®me incorporated in Delaware and thus
resides in this Judicial District, and becausejrdormation and belief, infringing activity has
occurred and continues to occur in this Judiciskiiat.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

14.  Shure has been a pioneer in the audio electrongissiry since its founding in
1925. From its beginnings as a one-man compaligg@M radio kits and components, Shure
has grown to become the worldwide standard-bearesuperior and reliable professional audio
equipment, including microphones, earphones, headhd) monitoring equipment, conference
room equipment, mixing equipment, software, andemor

15.  With respect to at least some of the products Skalls, ClearOne is a direct
competitor of Shure. Since 2017, ClearOne ande&have been engaged in litigation involving
several patents and competing products in the MortBistrict of Illinois and the District of
Utah, as well as before the Patent Trial and ApBealrd (“PTAB”).

16. On February 9, 2016, Shure publicly announced ikgdflex Advance portfolio
of networked conferencing products, offering “eleigaversatile, and scalable solutions for A/V
conferencing spaces that require pristine spedefligibility.” Exhibit B at 1. One of Shure’s
current products in this line, the MXA910, is alicgy-mounted array microphone that performs
beamforming in a highly accurate and targeted manaed provides a variety of flexible

mounting options while preserving room aesthetid® protect the innovative technologies of
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this product, Shure filed, among other patent appbns, U.S. Patent Application No.
14/701,376 (the “376 application”) with the Unite8tates Patent and Trademark Office
("USPTO”) on April 30, 2015. The '376 applicati@mubsequently issued as the '493 Patent to
Mathew T. Abraham et al., on February 7, 2017. 'B88& Patent is titled “Array Microphone
System and Method of Assembling the Same.” A tné accurate copy of the '493 Patent is
attached as Exhibit A. To protect the innovatiesign of this product, Shure filed, among other
design patent applications, U.S. Patent ApplicaNan 29/700,875 (the *’'875 application”) with
the USPTO on August 6, 2019. The '875 applicatebsims priority through intermediate
applications to the '376 application. The '875 kgaiion subsequently issued as the '723 Patent
to Elizabeth A. Cho et al.,, on November 5, 201%e 7723 Patent is titled “Array Microphone
Assembly.” A true and accurate copy of the '728eRais attached as Exhibit G.

17.  Shure is the owner and assignee of all right®, tdhd interest in the 493 Patent
and the '723 Patent, and holds the right to sue r@edver damages and lost profits for
infringement thereof, including current and pastimgement.

18. ClearOne has had knowledge of the '493 Patent diedere the filing of this
Complaint. For example, ClearOne filed a petitioninter partes review of the 493 Patent on
February 15, 2019. That proceeding, Case IPR20683) is ongoing. Even earlier, ClearOne
submitted an Information Disclosure Statement ofy 9, 2017, during prosecution of
ClearOne’s U.S. Patent Application No. 14/475,8f8rmatively identifying the '493 Patent.

19. Despite its knowledge of the 493 Patent, Clear@eased its BMA CT product
in 2019, which it marketed as a ceiling tile beamfmg microphone array. According to

ClearOne’s website, ClearOne announced on Feb@®r2019 that it had begun shipments of
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the BMA CT. In doing so, ClearOne adopted techgiel® developed and implemented by Shure
in the MXA910 product and patented in the '493 Rate

20. In addition to incorporating Shure’s patented tedbgy in its BMA CT product,
ClearOne also attempted to mislead Shure’s custmerto the availability, legitimacy, and
viability of Shure’s MXA910 product based on thegoimg litigation between the parties. Since
at least March 2019, ClearOne’s communications witbre than a dozen installers and
integrators included false and misleading statesnastto the status and alleged outcome of the
parties’ ongoing litigation. On information andlib§ these statements were made by at least
John Schnibbe, a Regional Sales Manager for Clegr@&md were made to customers such as
installers and integrators of conferencing equipmelRor example, ClearOne has falsely and
with bad faith statedinter alia, that Shure’s MXA910 has been found to infringedOne’s
patents, that two separate court rulings found thatMXA910 infringed ClearOne’s patents,
that such rulings were “unanimous,” that ClearOad fwon” its lawsuit against Shure, that the
MXA910 will soon be unavailable, that Shure willosohave to stop selling the MXA910, that
Shure was then unable to sell MXA910 products,thatintegrators, installers, and/or end users
will need to tear or rip out existing installation$ the MXA910. These statements are all
factually false and, on information and belief, emtentionally misleading and were made in
bad faith, and with the intent to induce custontereefrain from purchasing MXA910 products.
These false and deceptive statements harmed Shtousisess by purposefully deceiving buyers
and potential buyers of the MXA910 product, anccdigaging purchases of the MXA910, as
well as other Shure products.

21. ClearOne has also attempted to mislead customecdiding installers and

integrators, through written communications. Fearaple, ClearOne’s Senior Vice President of
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Finance, Narsi Narayanan, issued a letter to cus®hated August 29, 2019, that purported to
summarize the effect of a preliminary injunctiomler that issued in the parties’ parallel N.D. .
litigation. ClearOne’s letter includes the followjiintentionally false and misleading statements:
The Court’s infringement analysis applies equally third parties such as
integrators and consultants. If Shure is likelyrimjing the '806 Patent by
manufacturing, marketing, and selling the MXA910quct to be used in a drop-
ceiling mounting configuration, then third-partytagrators are also likely
infringing the '806 Patent if they install the MXAO product in a drop-ceiling
mounting configuration, and third-party consultantgse likely inducing
infringement if they recommend installation of thEXA910 product in a drop-
ceiling mounting configuration.
Please be aware that it is likely an act of infeimgent to install a Shure MXA910
product (Model Nos. MXA910B, MXA910W, MXA910AL, MXA810B-60CM,
MXA910W-60CM, and MXA910AL-60CM) in a drop-ceilingmounting
configuration. This is so regardless of when, owhthe installing company
received the MXA910 that it installs. Please aleatware that a finding of willful

patent infringement may result in the infringer ingvto pay treble damages
pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284.

22. These statements are false and misleading for measons. For example, it is
not true that all “drop-ceiling mounting configumat[s]’ of the MXA910 are preliminarily
enjoined. There is no dispute, for example, thHaemthe MXA910 is mounted to a drop-ceiling
tile or other structure, such that the microphooiethe MXA910 are not in the drop space (i.e.,
they are below the track of the drop ceiling), éhex no infringement. Customers are free to
install the MXA910 in this manner, and sometimesya ClearOne’s letter falsely suggests that
such a use of the MXA910 is infringing and forbiddeThe falsity of ClearOne’s statements in
this regard is not disputable and is not a mattanterpretation of the preliminary injunction
order. By misleading customers to think that tlaeg at risk of infringement liability, and
possibly “willful” infringement which may lead tareble damages,” ClearOne intentionally and
with bad faith attempted to mislead customers ic¢asing purchases of the MXA910 and

instead purchasing ClearOne’s products.
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23.  As another example, ClearOne’s threat of “infringaih liability for customers is
highly misleading and false. In ClearOne’s opemfpleading in the first N.D. Ill. action,
ClearOne asserts both direct and indirect infringieimincluding allegations that Shure is liable
for infringement by “customers.”Shure Inc. v. ClearOne, Inc., No. 1:17-cv-03078, Dkt. 430
19 46, 59 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 30, 2018). ClearOnehag attempting to hold Shure wholly liable for
alleged infringement by customers. ClearOne’sgaliens will either be proven incorrect or
correct, but in either scenario Shure’s customeesmselves will not be liable. By intentionally
misleading customers into thinking that they wal bheld liable for “infringement,” and possibly
“willful” infringement with treble damages, Clear®magain misrepresents facts to customers and
evidences its bad faith behind such communications.

24.  Additionally, ClearOne’s letter falsely misleadsstamers into thinking that there
is no permissible use of the MXA910. This is bessaClearOne intentionally and in bad faith
omitted from its letter the several and significaohinfringing uses of the MXA910. Again,
there is no dispute about these noninfringing usélearOne itself asserts them in the first N.D.
[ll. suit. According to ClearOne, “Shure’s MXA91tas multiple mounting options” and “even
if Shure is unable to manufacture or sell the MXB%1 a way that allows it to be installed in a
drop-ceiling mounting configuration, Shure will Bble to continue to sell MXA910s for use in
other configurations.”Shure Inc. v. ClearOne, Inc., No. 1:17-cv-03078, Dkt. 567 at 6 (N.D. Ill.
Aug. 7, 2019). Despite making these admissionhenfirst N.D. Ill. suit on August 7, 2019,
ClearOne omitted any reference to these non-infiqmgses of the MXA910 in its August 29,
2019 letter. Instead, ClearOne’s letter was desigio mislead customers into believing that
there is no non-infringing use of the MXA910, armtt installing the MXA910 will lead to

infringement liability.
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25.  Further, ClearOne’s letter falsely and misleadinglys customers that they may
not install the MXA910 in a drop-ceiling mountingrdiguration “regardless of when, or how,
the installing company received the MXA910 thanhstalls.” This is false and misleading for at
least two reasons. First, the preliminary injumctorder does not apply to exterritorial uses of
the MXA910, as ClearOne knows, and in fact concedethe first N.D. Ill. suit. Customers
reading the letter would falsely be misled to ustird that they may not install the MXA910
outside of the United States. Further, the prelany injunction specifically allowed that “Shure
customers that have already installed the MXA91@ idrop-ceiling mounting configuration
shall be permitted to continue using their MXA9listhat way, and Shure will be able to
continue servicing those already-installed prodic&ure Inc. v. ClearOne, Inc., No. 1:17-cv-
03078, Dkt. 551 at 64 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 5, 2019).was false and misleading for ClearOne to omit
this specific carve-out from the preliminary injtioa in its August 29, 2019 letter.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 9,565,493

26.  Shure realleges and incorporates by referenceotlegding paragraphs as though
fully restated herein.

27. The '493 Patent is valid and enforceable.

28. The '493 Patent addresses significant problems wdeptoying microphones in a
conference room setting and in other environmerite ackground noise or multiple noise
sources. The '493 Patent explains that existiogrtelogies suffered from drawbacks, including
picking up unwanted sound from nearby noise sourdetecting sound from more than one
direction, and mounting complex installations teedling. Exhibit A, '493 Patent at 1:15-63.

The '493 Patent addresses these problemsnbey, alia, providing an array microphone that is
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“unobtrusive, easy to install into an existing eamiment, and can enable the adjustment of the
microphone array to optimally detect sounds fromaadio source, e.g., a human speaker, and
reject unwanted noise and reflectionsd. at 1:64-2:3.

29. Claim 17 of the '493 Patent recites:

17. A microphone assembly comprising:
an array microphone comprising a plurality of mygnones; and
a housing configured to support the array microghaolne housing
being sized and shaped to be mountable in a dribpgcan
place of at least one of a plurality of ceilingeslincluded
in the drop ceiling,
wherein a front face of the housing includes a depgrmeable
screen having a size and shape that is substgrgiaiilar
to the at least one of the plurality of ceilingesl
30. ClearOne, in violation of 35 U.S.C. 8§ 271, hasimged and continues to infringe
at least claims 17-20 and 23-27 the 493 Patent by making, using, offering tdl, seelling,
and/or importing beamforming microphone arrayshim nited States, including but not limited
to, the BMA CT product, without authority, eitherdividually and/or jointly with its customers
using the BMA CT product. For example, the BMA @foduct infringes each and every
element of at least claims 17-20 and 23e2Zhe '493 Patent, either literally and/or undee t
doctrine of equivalents.
31. Upon information and belief, ClearOne has distelouand continually distributes

the BMA CT product through established distributioimannels throughout the United States,

including, but not limited to ClearOne’s own satetwork.

! Claims 17-20 and 23-27 are identified in this Cdaimp solely to provide an exemplary basis of
ClearOne’s infringement of the '493 Patent. Thssitig of claims is by no means limiting, and
Shure retains all rights to supplement and/or anitsrigting of asserted claims during this
action.

-10-
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32. ClearOne’s acts with respect to the BMA CT produate been without license
or authority from Shure with respect to the '493dpP& As indicated below, ClearOne directly
infringes the '493 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 27bfa)naking, using, offering to sell, selling,
and/or importing the BMA CT in the United States.

33. The BMA CT comprises a microphone assembly ase@dm claim 17 of the

'493 Patent. For example, ClearOne’s literatuneficms:

THE BMA CT

The BMA CT is a 2nd-generation Beamforming Microphone Array
solution for ceiling-tile installations, featuring 24 microphones, and
beamforming and adaptive-steering technology (think of it as smart
beam selection) designed specifically for the CONVERGE® Pro 2 (CP2)
products: 128, 128D, 128T, 128TD, 128V, 128VD, 128VT, 128VTD, 120,

, 48T, 48VT, 48VTD, and 48V. The arrays connect with the CONVERGE
Pro 2 through a Peripheral Link (P-Link) port with either Regular (200 ft.)

BMA CT, Quick-Start Guide (Rev. 2.4, Mar. 2019RafExhibit C).

BMA CT, Datasheet (Rev. 2.0, 2019) at 1 (Exhibit D)

-11-
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24 microphones

* 1Channel In (Uses P-Link channels or C-Link channels for speakers, no
+* Number of Beams: Two patterns, either 5 or 6 beams

* Frequency 15e: 150Hz — 16kHz, +/- 3dB
* Dynamic Range: 150Hz — 16kHz, > 70dB

Amplifier Output

* Type: 5.08mm Black Header, Male, Phoenix type Euroblock
* Audio: 2 Channels

Channel to Channel, sumulus at +20dBu to receptor 10W
output 8Q load, 20Hz — 22kHz, < 60dB

BMA CT Specifications, http://www.clearone.com/breta(Exhibit E).
34. The BMA CT includes an array microphone comprisiag plurality of

microphones as recited in claim 17 of the '493 Raté&or example:

THE BMA CT

The BMA CT is a 2nd-generation Beamforming Microphone Array
solution for ceiling-tile installations, featuring 24 microphones, and
beamforming and adaptive-steering technology (think of it as smart
beam selection) designed specifically for the CONVERGE® Pro 2 (CP2)
products: 128, 128D, 128T, 128TD, 128V, 128VD, 128VT, 128VTD, 120,

, 48T, 48VT, 48VTD, and 48V. The arrays connect with the CONVERGE
Pro 2 through a Peripheral Link (P-Link) port with either Regular (200 ft.)

BMA CT, Quick-Start Guide (Rev. 2.4, Mar. 2019RPafExhibit C).

> Each ceiling tile microphone array supports long distance P-Link
mode with 200 m / 650 ft between tiles, for a total cable reach

of 600 m /1950 ft

-12-
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BMA CT Product Overview, http://www.clearone.com/nct (Exhibit F).

MicrorPHONE ARRAY ORIENTATION

The LED indicators should be oriented in the room according to the
beam selection needs for optimal coverage. The diagrams below show
the orientation of the LED indicators toward the head of the conference
table with the resulting room coverage and beam mapping shown below.
Please be certain to remove the orientation label from the perforated
room panel before use.

N
||| o
g SR Orientation ' a—

./ f ™ ¥

BMA CT, Quick-Start Guide (Rev. 2.4, Mar. 2019)%aExhibit C).
35. The BMA CT includes a housing configured to supploetarray microphone, the
housing being sized and shaped to be mountabledio@ ceiling in place of at least one of a

plurality of ceiling tiles included in the drop @eg as recited in claim 17 of the '493 Patent.r Fo

example:

The BMA CT is a patented ceiling tile
beamforming mic array that blends in
perfectly with today’s drop ceilings.

BMA CT, Datasheet (Rev. 2.0, 2019) at 1 (Exhibit D)

-13-
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Convenient Ceiling-Tile
Form Factor

+ Drops easily into standard ceiling-tile grid
systems

+ Integrated features significantly reduce
system design complexity

+ Simple installation
+ Consumes less rack space
+ Lower cost

+ Three sizes available to fit US and
international ceiling-grid tile sizes

BMA CT, Datasheet (Rev. 2.0, 2019) at 1 (Exhibit D)

. <
- | . A

BMA CT, Datasheet (Rev. 2.0, 2019) at 1 (Exhibit D)
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BMA CT, Quick-Start Guide (Rev. 2.4, Mar. 2019)14t (Exhibit C).
36.  The housing of the BMA CT includes a front facehnat sound-permeable screen
having a size and shape that is substantially aimbdl the at least one of the plurality of ceiling

tiles as recited in claim 17 of the '493 Patenbtr &ample:

BMA CT, Datasheet (Rev. 2.0, 2019) at 1 (Exhibit D)

-15-
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BMA CT, Quick-Start Guide (Rev. 2.4, Mar. 2019)1atExhibit C).

37. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b), ClearOne adgvand knowingly induces
third-party retailers, distributors, integratorsstallers, and end-users of the BMA CT product to
directly infringe claims 17-20 and 23-27 the 493 Patent. ClearOne induces infringemant,
least, by knowingly selling the BMA CT product withe intent that its customers directly
infringe the '493 Patent through sales and usé@BMA CT product in the United States. As
discussed above, ClearOne has been aware of tBePdfnt since before this Complaint was
filed, and on information and belief knows that Bl dA CT infringes at least claims 17-20 and
23-270f the 493 Patent.

38. ClearOne has contributed to the infringement ofl eontinues to contribute to
the infringement of, one or more claims of the '4R@&tent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(c), either
literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalerty, selling, offering to sell, and/or importing

within or into the United States the BMA CT producthese instrumentalities constitute a
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material part of the invention of the '493 Patexre known by ClearOne to be especially made
or adapted for use in infringing the '493 Patemig @re not a staple article or commodity of
commerce suitable for substantial noninfringing.use

39. Despite ClearOne’s knowledge of the '493 Patentlkamalvledge of its infringing
activities, ClearOne has and continues to willfidlyd deliberately infringe one or more claims
of the 493 Patent by continuing to manufacture, sll, offer for sale, and/or import the BMA
CT product in the United States. As the above samgraf ClearOne’s infringement of claim 17
of the 493 Patent makes clear, ClearOne’s infnmget is obvious and notorious. On
information and belief, ClearOne has no good fadkis that the BMA CT does not infringe the
'493 Patent. ClearOne’s decision to challenge’488 Patent innter partes review, as noted
above, further underscores its knowledge that ftinges the 493 Patent. This willful
infringement, without regard for Shure’s lawful gat rights, constitutes egregious and wanton
conduct sufficient to establish willful infringemeunder 35 U.S.C. § 284.

40. By reason of the ongoing and continuous infringen®nClearOne of the '493
Patent, Shure is entitled to the entry of a permi&aimgunction, enjoining ClearOne from further
infringing of Shure’s patent rights, pursuant tolB%.C. § 283.

41.  Shure has suffered, and is continuing to suffematges as a result of ClearOne’s
infringement of the 493 Patent, and Shure is katito compensation and other monetary relief
to the fullest extent allowed by law, includingaatteys’ fees, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. 88§ 284 and

285.
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

FALSE ADVERTISING UNDER THE LANHAM ACT

42.  Shure realleges and incorporates by referenceotlegding paragraphs as though
fully restated herein.

43.  As described above, on information and belief, e through one or more of
its officers, directors, agents, servants, empleyéeensees, and/or persons acting in concert or
active participation with ClearOne or on its behaitluding but not limited to John Schnibbe,
engaged in false, deceptive and/or misleading &diregy and promotion to Shure’s customers
and potential customers related to Shure’s produatkiding at least installers and integrators of
conferencing equipment. On information and belidfis advertising and promotion was
conducted in bad faith and included at least fedgeesentations that Shure’s MXA910 has been
found to infringe ClearOne’s patents, that two sagacourt rulings found that the MXA910
infringed ClearOne’s patents, that such rulingsenemanimous,” that ClearOne had “won” its
lawsuit against Shure, that the MXA910 will soonwm®available, that Shure will soon have to
stop selling the MXA910, that Shure was then unablesell MXA910 products, and that
integrators, installers and/or end users will needear or rip out existing installations of the
MXA910.

44. These false and misleading statements were ma@delyOne in connection with
goods and services, including in connection with MXA910 and the BMA CT. Both products
are sold in interstate commerce in the United State

45. On information and belief, ClearOne’s false, dewept and/or misleading
advertising and promotion has caused injury to &harthe form of lost sales, commercial

interest, loss of reputation, lost employee tinmel kgal expenses.
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46. On information and belief, Shure’s injuries flowddaectly from the deception
wrought by ClearOne’s false, deceptive, and/or eaging advertising and promotion. On
information and belief, Shure’s customers and pgakoustomers withheld purchasing products
and services from Shure, including purchases oMKA910, based on ClearOne’s statements.

47. ClearOne’s acts alleged herein constitute falseididing in violation of Section
43(a)(1)(B) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1125(x).

48. As a direct, proximate, and foreseeable result lex©ne’s actions, Shure has
suffered, and unless ClearOne’s actions are emobe this Court, will continue to suffer,
irreparable harm.

49. As a direct and proximate result of ClearOne’s emtdShure has suffered and
will continue to suffer damages in an amount t@twe/ed at trial.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

VIOLATION OF DELAWARE DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICESACT

50. Shure realleges and incorporates by referenceotlegding paragraphs as though
fully restated herein.

51. On information and belief, ClearOne through one mnoore of its officers,
directors, agents, servants, employees, licensaefpr persons acting in concert or active
participation with ClearOne or on its behalf, irtihg but not limited to John Schnibbe and
Narsi Narayanan, made false, deceptive and/or auslg statements to Shure’s customers and
potential customers related to Shure’s productduding at least installers and integrators of
conferencing equipment. On information and belibgse statements were made in bad faith,
and include at least false representations thareZhtMXA910 has been found to infringe

ClearOne’s patents, that two separate court ruliogsd that the MXA910 infringed ClearOne’s
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patents, that such rulings were “unanimous,” thatfOne had “won” its lawsuit against Shure,
that the MXA910 will soon be unavailable, that Shwill soon have to stop selling the
MXA910, that Shure was then unable to sell MXA9X0ducts, and that integrators, installers
and/or end users will need to tear or rip out égsinstallations of the MXA910. These false
statements made in bad faith also include misreptatons of fact and omissions of material
facts in the August 29, 2019 letter from Narsi Narzan to customers of ClearOne and Shure, as
set forth above.

52. On information and belief, ClearOne’s false, deiwept and/or misleading
conduct led to injury to Shure by deceiving or Ingvthe tendency to deceive customers from
engaging in business with Shure, reducing Shur@snsercial interest, harming its reputation,
and causing lost sales. ClearOne’s deceptiverséatis were material to customers’ purchasing
decisions, by design, because they addressed Hialahty, legitimacy, and viability of the
MXA910 to Shure’s customers and potential customers

53.  On information and belief, Shure’s injuries flowratitly from the deception
wrought by ClearOne’s false, deceptive, and/or eading statements. On information and
belief Shure’s customers and potential customenge haithheld purchasing products and
services from Shure, including purchases of the MX®based on ClearOne’s statements.

54. ClearOne’s acts alleged herein constitute unfammetition in violation of the
Delaware Deceptive Trade Practices Act, 6 Del. @582. For example, ClearOne’s false and
misleading statements violate at least 6 Del. 2532(a)(2), (5), (8), and (12).

55. As a direct, proximate, and foreseeable result leBx®One’s actions, Shure has
suffered, and unless ClearOne’s actions are emobe this Court, will continue to suffer,

irreparable harm.
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56. As a direct and proximate result of ClearOne’s emhdShure has suffered and
will continue to suffer damages in an amount topbeved at trial, and Shure is entitled to
compensation and other monetary relief to the dullextent allowed by law, pursuant to
6 Del. C. 8§ 2533(a), including attorneys’ fees, tspsind enhanced damages under 6 Del. C.
§ 2533(b), (c).

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

TORTIOUSINTERFERENCE WITH BUSINESS RELATIONS

57.  Shure realleges and incorporates by referenceotlegding paragraphs as though
fully restated herein.

58. On information and belief, ClearOne through one noore of its officers,
directors, agents, servants, employees, licensaefpr persons acting in concert or active
participation with ClearOne or on its behalf, irtig but not limited to John Schnibbe and
Narsi Narayanan, made false, deceptive and/or auslg statements to Shure’s customers and
potential customers related to Shure’s productduding at least installers and integrators of
conferencing equipment. On information and belibgse statements were made in bad faith,
and include at least false representations thareZhiMXA910 has been found to infringe
ClearOne’s patents, that two separate court ruliogsd that the MXA910 infringed ClearOne’s
patents, that such rulings were “unanimous,” thHatfOne had “won” its lawsuit against Shure,
that the MXA910 will soon be unavailable, that Shwill soon have to stop selling the
MXA910, that Shure was then unable to sell MXA9X0ducts, and that integrators, installers
and/or end users will need to tear or rip out égsinstallations of the MXA910. These false

statements made in bad faith also include misreptatons of fact and omissions of material
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facts in the August 29, 2019 letter from Narsi Narzan to customers of ClearOne and Shure, as
set forth above.

59. On information and belief, Shure had reasonablebabibties of new and
continuing business opportunities with its custanarhich were deterred and interfered with by
ClearOne’s false, deceptive, and/or misleadingestants. As described above, ClearOne’s
conduct has caused Shure customers to withhold tat Shure involving the MXA910.

60. On information and belief, ClearOne’s false, demept and/or misleading
statements were intentional and directed to haranedh business opportunities with current and
potential customers. The false, deceptive, andiisteading statements by ClearOne are the
cause of the interference with Shure’s businesgiogiships with customers.

61. On information and belief, ClearOne’s false, demept and/or misleading
statements led to a likelihood of, and realizabdnactual damages to Shure in the form of lost
sales, commercial interest, loss of reputatiort, dogployee time, and legal expenses.

62. ClearOne’s acts alleged herein constitute tortimisrference with business
relations under Delaware law. As a direct, proxanand foreseeable result of ClearOne’s
actions, Shure has suffered, and unless ClearCastisns are enjoined by this Court, will
continue to suffer, irreparable harm.

63. As a direct and proximate result of ClearOne’s embdShure has suffered and
will continue to suffer damages in an amount t@twe/ed at trial.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

UNFAIR COMPETITION UNDER DELAWARE COMMON LAW
64. Shure realleges and incorporates by referenceotiegding paragraphs as though

fully restated herein.
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65. On information and belief, ClearOne through one noore of its officers,
directors, agents, servants, employees, licensaefpr persons acting in concert or active
participation with ClearOne or on its behalf, irtig but not limited to John Schnibbe and
Narsi Narayanan, made false, deceptive and/or auslg statements to Shure’s customers and
potential customers related to Shure’s productduding at least installers and integrators of
conferencing equipment. On information and belibgse statements were made in bad faith,
and include at least false representations thareZhiMXA910 has been found to infringe
ClearOne’s patents, that two separate court ruliogsd that the MXA910 infringed ClearOne’s
patents, that such rulings were “unanimous,” thaaf©ne had “won” its lawsuit against Shure,
that the MXA910 will soon be unavailable, that Shwill soon have to stop selling the
MXA910, that Shure was then unable to sell MXA9X0ducts, and that integrators, installers
and/or end users will need to tear or rip out égsinstallations of the MXA910. These false
statements made in bad faith also include misreptatons of fact and omissions of material
facts in the August 29, 2019 letter from Narsi Narzan to customers of ClearOne and Shure, as
set forth above.

66. On information and belief, Shure had reasonableegncies of entering valid
business relationships with installers and integsatwith which ClearOne wrongfully interfered
and continues to interfere, and ClearOne has thatefeated and continues to attempt to defeat
Shure’s legitimate expectancies, thus causing Sharen. ClearOne’s wrongful interference
includes the false, deceptive, and/or misleadiatestents described above. ClearOne’s conduct
has caused Shure customers to withhold trade vitineSnvolving the MXA910.

67. On information and belief, ClearOne’s false, demept and/or misleading

statements were intentional and directed to haroreédh business expectancies with current and

-23-

ME1 32007356v.1



Case 1:19-cv-01343-RGA-CJB Document 64 Filed 11/19/19 Page 24 of 31 PagelD #: 2317

potential customers. The false, deceptive, andiisteading statements by ClearOne are the
cause of the interference with Shure’s legitimaq@eetancies.

68. On information and belief, ClearOne’s false, demept and/or misleading
statements led to a likelihood of, and realizabdnactual damages to Shure in the form of lost
sales, commercial interest, loss of reputatiort, dogployee time, and legal expenses.

69. ClearOne’s acts alleged herein constitute unfampetition under Delaware
common law. As a direct, proximate, and forese=absult of ClearOne’s actions, Shure has
suffered, and unless ClearOne’s actions are emobe this Court, will continue to suffer,
irreparable harm.

70. As a direct and proximate result of ClearOne’s embdShure has suffered and
will continue to suffer damages in an amount t@twe/ed at trial.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. D865723
71. Shure realleges and incorporates by referenceotiegding paragraphs as though
fully restated herein.
72. The 723 Patent is valid and enforceable.
73. The '723 Patent claims a new, original, and ornaaledesign for Array
Microphone Assembly, as shown in the figures of platent, reproduced below, as shown in
Exhibit G, with the broken lines of even length wihoin the figures forming no part of the

claimed design:
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FIG. 1

Fig. 1, Front, top, right perspective view

Fig.Rear, bottom, left perspective view

FIG. 3

FIG. 4

Fig. 3, Top plan view

Fig. 4, Bottom plan view

FIG. 6

Fig. 5, Front view

Fig. 6, Left side view

74. The BMA CT comprises the following design for anagrmicrophone assembly:

ME1 32007356v.1
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2019) at 1 (Exhibit C).

Front, top, left perspective view of BMA C]
BMA CT, Quick-Start Guide (Rev. 2.4, Ma

I Rear, bottom, left perspective view of BMA
rCT, BMA CT, Quick-Start Guide (Rev. 2.4,
Mar. 2019) at 14 (Exhibit C).

(Rev. 2.0, 2019) at 1 (Exhibit D).

Top plan view of BMA CT, BMA CT, Datashe

2Bottom, rear, left perspective view of BM
CT, BMA CT, Quick-Start Guide (Rev. 2.1
Mar. 2019) at 11 (Exhibit C).

A
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Bottom view of BMA CT, BMA CT, Quick- Left side view of BMA CT, BMA CT,
Start Guide (Rev. 2.4, Mar. 2019) at 14 (Exh|bQuick-Start Guide (Rev. 2.4, Mar. 2019)|at
C). 14 (Exhibit C).

75. Inthe eye of the ordinary observer familiar witle trelevant prior art, giving such
attention as a purchaser of the BMA CT would usuglie, the claimed design of the 723
Patent and the design of ClearOne’s BMA CT produet substantially the same, such that the
ordinary observer would be deceived into believimgt the design of BMA CT product is the
design claimed in the '723 Patent.

76.  ClearOne, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, has diseinfringed the '723 Patent
by making, offering for sale, selling, and/or imfwiog BMA CT product in the United States.

77. Upon information and belief, ClearOne has distrlguand continually distributes
the BMA CT product through established distributioimnnels throughout the United States,
including, but not limited to ClearOne’s own satetwork.

78. ClearOne’s acts with respect to the BMA CT produate been without license
or authority from Shure with respect to the '723ePa

79. ClearOne, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 289, has diseinfringed and continues to
infringe the '723 Patent by applying the patentesigin of the 723 Patent, or a colorable
imitation thereof, to an article of manufactureglinling BMA CT product, for the purpose of
sale and/or by selling, offering, or exposing fatesan article of manufacture, including the
BMA CT product, to which the patented design of ti23 Patent or a colorable imitation

thereof has been applied.
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80. By reason of the ongoing and continuous infringentynClearOne of the '723
Patent, Shure is entitled to the entry of a permi&aimgunction, enjoining ClearOne from further
infringement of Shure’s design patent rights, pantdo 35 U.S.C. § 283.

81. Shure has suffered, and is continuing to suffematges as a result of ClearOne’s
infringement of the '723 Patent, and Shure is katito compensation and other monetary relief
to the fullest extent allowed by law, includingaatteys’ fees, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. 8§ 284 and
285.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Shure respectfully requests the follgwislief:

(@) A judgement against ClearOne as to infringementlaims 17-20 and 23-23f
the '493 Patent;

(b) A judgement against ClearOne as to the infringeroéttie claimed design of the
723 Patent;

(c) Preliminary and permanent injunctions under 35 ©.S§ 283, enjoining
ClearOne and its officers, directors, agents, sesvaffiliates, employees, subsidiaries, parents,
licensees, assigns, and customers, and all otletirgy an concert or participation with them,
from further acts of infringing, inducing infringeamt, and/or contributing to the infringement of
the 493 Patent and from further acts of infringthg 723 Patent;

(d) A judgment against ClearOne for money damages isestaas a result of
ClearOne’s infringement of the 493 Patent in aroan to be determined at trial as provided
under 35 U.S.C. § 284, including enhanced damagesta, for example, ClearOne’s willful

infringement of the 493 Patent;
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(e) A judgement against ClearOne for ClearOne’s totalfifs of any article of
manufacture to which the claimed design of the "P28ent has been applied as a result of
ClearOne’s infringement of the '723 Patent in aroant to be determined at trial as provided
under 35 U.S.C § 289 and for money damages sudtama result of ClearOne’s infringement
of the '723 Patent in an amount to be determinettiat as provided under 35 U.S.C. § 284,
whichever is greater;

M An accounting for infringing sales not presentettiat and an award by the Court
of additional damages for any such infringing sales

(9) An award of pre-judgment and post-judgment inteogsthe damages caused by
ClearOne’s infringing activities and other condcanplained of herein;

(h) A finding that this case is an exceptional caseeuid® U.S.C. § 285;

(1) An award of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costsrnied in connection with this
action;

()] A judgment against ClearOne for money damages igestaas a result of
ClearOne’s violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(B)an amount to be determined at trial;

(k) Preliminary and permanent injunctions enjoining a&@ne and its officers,
directors, agents, servants, affiliates, employsebsidiaries, parents, licensees, assigns, and
customers, and all others acting in concert ori@pation with them, from further acts in
violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(B);

() A judgment against ClearOne for money damagesuputgo 6 Del. C. 88 2532,
2533, sustained as a result of ClearOne’s violatibthe Delaware Deceptive Trade Practices

Act, 6 Del. C. § 2532, in an amount to be deterhiagtrial;
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(m)  Preliminary and permanent injunctions, pursuang tbel. C. 8 2533, enjoining
ClearOne and its officers, directors, agents, sesvaffiliates, employees, subsidiaries, parents,
licensees, assigns, and customers, and all otletirgy an concert or participation with them,
from further acts in violation of 6 Del. C. § 2532;

(n)  An award of attorneys’ fees, costs, and enhancedadas under 6 Del. C.

8 2533(b), (c) based on ClearOne’s violation ofdd.[T. § 2532;

(0) A judgment against ClearOne for money damages isestaas a result of
ClearOne’s violation of the common law tort of fegence with business relations, in an
amount to be determined at trial;

(p) Preliminary and permanent injunctions enjoining a&@ne and its officers,
directors, agents, servants, affiliates, employsebsidiaries, parents, licensees, assigns, and
customers, and all others acting in concert ori@pation with them, from further acts in
violation the common law tort of interference wiihsiness relations;

(@) A judgment against ClearOne for money damages isestaas a result of
ClearOne’s unfair competition under Delaware comrawn in an amount to be determined at
trial;

(n Preliminary and permanent injunctions enjoining &@ne and its officers,
directors, agents, servants, affiliates, employsebsidiaries, parents, licensees, assigns, and
customers, and all others acting in concert origpdtion with them, from further unfair

competition under Delaware common law;
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(s) Any and all other relief as the Court finds justigmoper.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Shure hereby respectfully requests a trial by pmyall issues so triable in accordance

with Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procezlur

Dated: November 19, 2019
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